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VIRGINIA:

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE CITY OF LYNCHBURG

JERRY FALWELL, JR.,
Plaintiff, Case No.
v,
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
LIBERTY UNIVERSITY,
Defendant.
COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Jerry Falwell, Jr., as and for his Complaint against Defendant Liberty University
(“Liberty” or the “University”), by and through undersigned counsel, hereby alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

1. This defamation action against Liberty University by its former President and
Chancellor, Jerry Falwell, Jr., is necessitated by Liberty’s abdication of its legal, contractual, and
moral obligations not to defame him. Jerry Falwell, Jr., has dedicated much of his adult life to
Liberty University, which was founded by his father, Jerry Falwell, Sr. (“Dr. Falwell), in 1971.
Following his father’s death in 2007, Jerry Falwell, Jr. stepped in as President and Chancellor of
the University, saving the institution from financial collapse and developing Liberty into the
world’s leading evangelical university and the largest private nonprofit university in the nation.
In return, Liberty set out to destroy Mr. Falwell’s reputation through numerous defamatory
statements that affirm the outrageous lies of an unstable individual who attempted to extort the

Falwells and who, on information and belief, conspired against Mr. Falwell with politically



motivated backers, including Aaron Resnick and the political action committee The Lincoln
Project.

2. Under Mr. Falwell’s stewardship, Liberty University’s stature increased
exponentially by almost every metric, especially enrollment and financials. Between just 2007
and 2020 alone, attendance increased from 9,600 students in residence and 27,000 students
online to 15,000 students in residence and 108,000 students studying online. And, after decades
of financial hardship, Liberty now boasts a $1.6 billion endowment—one of the nation’s largest.
More students enrolled and more donors gave because of Mr. Falwell’s tireless efforts in
carrying out his father’s vision for Liberty.

3. When Mr. Falwell and his family became the targets of a malicious smear
campaign incited by anti-evangelical forces, Liberty University not only accepted the salacious
and baseless accusations against the Falwells at face value, but directly participated in the
defamation. This action seeks redress for the damage Liberty has caused to the reputation of Mr.
Falwell and his family.

4. For years, Mr. Falwell and his wife, Rebecca Falwell, have been the victims of an
ongoing extortion scheme by Giancarlo Granda—efforts which have recently been absorbed into
a smear campaign by political operatives who are opposed to Mr. Falwell’s support of President
Trump. Granda repeatedly demanded enormous cash payments from the Falwells to stay silent
about a brief affair with Mrs. Falwell that ended in 2014. Granda is an unstable and
manipulative individual who saw the Falwells’ kindness, and his involvement with Mrs. Falwell,
as opportunities ripe for exploitation.

5. The Falwells refused to pay, and Granda’s disturbing behavior becamie

increasingly erratic and threatening.



6. On information and belief, Granda began conspiring with political operatives to
defame Mr. Falwell. Granda recently admitted in an ABC News interview that he is being
represented free of charge by Kurt Bardella, a senior advisor to The Lincoln Project. The
Lincoln Project is a political action committee that has a self-described mission to “Defeat
President Trump and Trumpism at the ballot box.” The Lincoln Project’s animosity towards Mr.
Falwell presumably arises from the fact that President Trump’s evangelical support is often
attributed to Mr. Falwell’s early endorsement of him during the 2016 primaries. It has been
reported that Bardella is also arranging Granda’s interviews with the press. Granda further
admitted to being introduced to The Lincoln Project by his attorney, Aaron Resnick, a politically
prominent lawyer in Miami, Florida. On information and belief, Resnick has been financing
Granda’s personal expenses.

7. In June 2020, Mr. Falwell made clear to Granda in no uncertain terms that he
would not be extorted, no payments would be forthcoming, and Granda should cease and desist
from contacting him. Shortly thereafter, Granda—backed by The Lincoln Project—embarked on
a hit job against Mr. Falwell in the press. On August 24, 2020, Granda stated publicly for the
first time the outrageous, false, and defamatory lies that Mr. Falwell had “looked on” and
“watched” as Granda had sex with his wife and participated in the affair.

8. The lies had the effect that Granda and The Lincoln Project intended. Within a
day, Liberty turned on Mr. Falwell and forced his resignation as University President and
Chancellor. Liberty conducted zero investigation into Granda’s lies and willfully ignored
information demonstrating their falsity. Soon after his resignation, the University began to
systematically erase Mr. Falwell from Liberty University history: scrubbing any mention of him

from the University website; removing portraits of Mr. Falwell from campus (including a portrait



of Mr. Falwell as a boy attending a University football game with his late father); prohibiting
Liberty faculty and staff members from speaking with him; and banning him from visiting
campus grounds—which include the gravesites of his mother and father.

9. The University also moved quickly to destroy Mr. Falwell’s reputation in the
Liberty community and nationwide. On August 26, 2020, in its high-profile and publicly-
broadcasted Community Service event, before thousands of gathered students and faculty—and
the world—Liberty lent credence to Granda’s lies, stating that Mr. Falwell had engaged in
“disobedient” behavior “in secret” that was “shameful” and a “sin.” Liberty then repeated
similar statements in a press release and its official magazine.

10.  Up until that point, Granda’s lies were just that—lies, vigorously denied by Mr.
Falwell. But Liberty gave those lies an air of truth and righteousness. With the exercise of even
the slightest diligence, Liberty would have quickly confirmed that Granda’s outrageous lies are
false. Instead, Liberty gave Granda’s lies an air of truth by immediately forcing Mr. Falwell’s
resignation and publicly defaming him.

11. Liberty’s actions are antithetical to the teachings of Christ. Liberty’s conduct has
damaged Mr. Falwell’s standing among Liberty faculty, students, and alumni, the broader
evangelical community, and beyond. Liberty’s conduct has also damaged Liberty itself, and the
evangelical community, by playing right into the hands of sinister operatives with ulterior
motives. Liberty has rejected Mr. Falwell’s attempts to reach an amicable resolution, forcing
Mr. Falwell to bring this action to restore his reputation.

THE PARTIES

12. Plaintiff Jerry Falwell, Jr. is a citizen and resident of Virginia. He currently

resides in Bedford County, Virginia. Mr. Falwell has a Juris Doctorate from the University of



Virginia and was a practicing lawyer for many years. Mr. Falwell began working at Liberty
University in 1988 as General Counsel, a position that he held until May 2007. Following the
death of Dr. Falwell in May 2007, Mr. Falwell served as the President and Chancellor of Liberty
University until his August 25, 2020 resignation.

13. Defendant Liberty University is a Virginia nonstock corporation headquartered in
Lynchburg, Virginia with its principal office located at 1971 University Blvd, Lynchburg,
Virginia 24515.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

14, This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Va. Code §§ 17.1-
513,8.01-328.1. Defendant is organized as a nonstock corporation under the laws of the
Commonwealth of Virginia and has its principal office in the Commonwealth of Virginia.

15.  Venue properly lies in this Court under Va. Code Ann. §§ 8.01-257 and 8.01-262
because it is a forum convenient to the parties and witnesses, where justice can be administered
without prejudice or delay. Liberty University’s principal office is located in Lynchburg,
Virginia.

16.  Furthermore, the Employment Agreement entered into between Mr. Falwell and
Liberty, which provides the basis for at least one of the claims in this action, specifies that any
legal action or proceeding arising out of or relating to the Employment Agreement shall be filed
and adjudicated only in a state or federal court sitting in Lynchburg, Virginia.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. The Falwell Family and the Founding of Liberty University

17.  Born on June 17, 1962 in Lynchburg, Virginia, Mr. Falwell comes from storied

Virginian roots. His late father, Dr. Falwell, is among the most respected leaders in the



evangelical Christian community, described by The Economist as a “quintessentially American
type: a poor man who won fame and fortune by preaching the Word.”

18.  In 1952, Dr. Falwell decided to dedicate his life to Christ and preaching
Christianity. After graduating college, he returned home to Lynchburg to start a church in a
disused soda-bottling plant with a congregation consisting of just 35 adults and their families.

19. Dr. Falwell steadily grew his congregation using nothing but his charisma, and, at
first, his own two feet, visiting 100 or so homes a day to seek new congregation members,
carrying only a yellow legal pad and a Bible.

20. Dr. Falwell’s breakthrough came from using the technology of the era to spread
the gospel. Soon after his church opened, he began a half-hour daily radio broadcast, like the
ones his mother would play on Sunday nights. And only a few months later, he began televising
his services, which quickly gained him a national audience. He called the show “Old-Time
Gospel Hour,” and it started to skyrocket his congregation’s numbers almost immediately. In the
first year, his congregation grew from 35 to nearly a thousand, and that was only the beginning.
By the 1970s, his church sat thousands, and Old-Time Gospel Hour was broadcast nationally to
hundreds of thousands of homes.

21. In 1971, just a few blocks from his church, Dr. Falwell founded Lynchburg
Baptist College, which would eventually become known as Liberty University. The school’s
mission was “Training Champions for Christ,” and like Dr. Falwell’s church, it originally started
small, with only 154 students, a tuition of $200, and four full-time faculty members. It quickly
began to grow. Just 10 years after its founding, over 3,500 students were enrolled, and by 1988
it had become the largest private university in Virginia with a combined enrollment of 11,000

students from all 50 states and 30 nations.



22.  While Liberty University grew, Dr. Falwell became a titan in Christian
evangelicalism as well as American politics. In 1979, after hosting a series of “I Love America”
rallies across the country to raise awareness of social issues, Dr. Falwell founded the Moral
Majority, a political organization headquartered in Lynchburg, Virginia, that, at its height,
claimed more than four-million members and two-million donors.

23.  Although Dr. Falwell became a national figure through his work with the Moral
Majority and the Old-Time Gospel Hour, his passion lay in being a pastor and a Christian
educator. And in 1989, he disbanded the Moral Majority, allowing himself more time to
concentrate his efforts on heading his church and Liberty University. Dr. Falwell dreamed that
Liberty would grow to 50,000 students and be to fundamentalist Christians what The University
of Notre Dame is to Catholics and Brigham Young University is to Mormons.

B. Mr. Falwell’s Contributions to Liberty University

24.  Despite Dr. Falwell’s best efforts, he had difficulty keeping Liberty afloat

financially. Donors and family friends had to step in to help manage the finances and arrange for
companies to write-off Liberty’s debt, and even with their help, by the 1990s, Liberty University
was on the verge of financial collapse.

25.  Fortunately, when the school was nearing its financial nadir, facing bankruptcy
and potential collapse, Jerry Falwell, Jr. was fully grown and able to assist his father in not only
keeping the school alive, but achieving Dr. Falwell’s dream for Liberty University. In 1987,
Jerry Falwell, Jr. was a practicing lawyer and commercial real estate developer. In 1988, he
joined Liberty as General Counsel.

26. While Dr. Falwell focused on maintaining the school’s religious education, Mr.

Falwell worked to keep the creditors at bay, which was no small feat. By 1990, the school had



nearly $100 million in debt. Liberty’s accrediting body, the Southern Association of Colleges
and Schools Commission on Colleges, had even placed it on a one-year probation and was
scrutinizing its every move, going so far as to issue Liberty more than 100 “recommendations” to
maintain its accreditation, most of which centered around restructuring the school’s debt.

27. With Mr. Falwell’s assistance, Liberty University not only climbed out of its
financial hole, but began to thrive. As Dr. Falwell himself put it, “God sent [Jerry Falwell, Jr.} to
me just in time. He is more responsible, humanly speaking, for the miraculous financial survival
of this ministry than any other single person.”

28. In 2000, Mr. Falwell joined Liberty University’s Board of Trustees, and in 2003
he became the school’s Vice Chancellor. As a board member and Vice Chancellor, he assisted
his father with running the school’s day-to-day operations and managed the University’s debt for
years.

29. On May 15, 2007, Dr. Falwell passed away. In accordance with his wishes, upon
his passing, his two sons took control of the two pinnacles of his legacy: Jonathan took over his
church, Thomas Road Baptist Church, and Jerry, Jr. became President and Chancellor of Liberty
University.

30. Mr. Falwell rose to the occasion. He has been widely recognized as having led
Liberty University not only through difficult financial straits, but also for steering its
transformation into the world’s leading evangelical university.

31.  Dr. Falwell passed away before Liberty University achieved his dream of 50,000
enrolled students. Under Mr. Falwell’s stewardship, however, Dr. Falwell’s dream was
achieved, and then surpassed: during his tenure as President and Chancellor, Mr. Falwell grew

Liberty University’s enrollment from 38,000 to 110,000 students, making it the one of the largest



evangelical Christian universities in the world, and one of the largest private non-profit
universities in the United States.

32. Under Mr. Falwell’s leadership, Liberty University’s finances have transformed
from being crippled by debt to possessing nearly $3.5 billion in net assets and one of the largest
and fastest-growing endowments of any university in the nation. The University’s sports teams
play in Division 1 of the National Collegiate Athletic Association (alongside The University of
Notre Dame and Brigham Young University, as Dr. Falwell always wanted). In 2017, its
football team joined the Football Bowl Subdivision, college sports’ most competitive level. Its
sprawling campus, which overlooks Lynchburg, Virginia, comprises 7,000 acres and 17 colleges.
Under Mr. Falwell’s stewardship, Liberty has built a $50 million library with a high-tech robotic
book-retrieval system (one of only a few in the country); renovated its 25,000-seat football
stadium (Williams Stadium); and built a year-round outdoor ski slope (the only one of its kind in
North America) that is free for students. In January 2017, President Donald Trump gave the
commencement speech at Liberty University—one of his very first speeches as President of the
United States.

C. Liberty Recognizes Mr. Falwell’s Qutstanding Leadership in the 2019 Employment
Agreement

33. Mr. Falwell’s outstanding leadership of Liberty endeared him to students, faculty,

alumni, and donors alike. Indeed, Liberty students would often chant his name when he
appeared at school events. And his success with donors is undeniable: as noted above, in the
first ten years of Mr. Falwell’s tenure as President and Chancellor, Liberty’s endowment grew

exponentially.



34.  In 2019, Liberty University and Mr. Falwell negotiated and entered into the
Employment Agreement, which was intended to fairly compensate Mr. Falwell for his significant
contributions and to bring his compensation in line with market compensation.

35. In light of his proven track record as President and Chancellor, in 2019, the
University took steps to ensure that Mr. Falwell was properly compensated for the success his
stewardship had brought Liberty. The University retained FW Cook, a national consulting firm
with expertise in the compensation of executives in tax-exempt organizations, to review Mr.
Falwell’s compensation. The University tasked FW Cook with determining whether Mr.
Falwell’s compensation was in line with national standards, taking into account Liberty
University’s growth and financial achievements and Mr. Falwell’s historical compensation. FW
Cook made recommendations for program changes as needed to ensure that Mr. Falwell was
retained at Liberty University for the long term and provided with a competitive and motivating
compensation program.

36.  In recognition of Mr. Falwell’s numerous significant contributions to Liberty
University, and in an effort to compensate Mr. Falwell fairly in keeping with national standards
applicable to presidents of comparable non-profit colleges and universities, under advisement
from FW Cook, Liberty University entered into the Employment Agreement.

37.  As Liberty University specifically recognized in the Employment Agreement:

a) In his first ten years with Liberty University, Mr. Falwell was instrumental
in promoting and furthering the University’s debt restructuring and returning the University to a

position of financial strength by 1997 from a period of severe financial hardship.
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b) During Mr. Falwell’s tenure with Liberty University, he was instrumental
in promoting and furthering the rapid expansion and continued success of the University,
especially since 2007, when Mr. Falwell became President and Chancellor.

c) Under Mr. Falwell’s leadership, between 2007 and 2017 Liberty
University’s net assets increased from approximately $100 million to over $2.1 billion. During
the same time period, the University’s annual gross revenues increased from $231,506,554 to
over $1 billion, and its surplus of revenues over expenditures increased from $52,514,469 to
$331,142,834.

d) Likewise, under Mr. Falwell’s leadership, between 2007 and 2017 Liberty
University’s attendance increased from 9,600 students in residence and 27,000 students online in
2007 to 15,000 students in residence and 86,000 students studying online in 2017.

e) As a result of its strong financial performance under Mr. Falwell’s
leadership, Liberty University’s Standard & Poor’s credit rating has been AA since 2011, placing
Liberty among the 80 highest rated universities nationally.

38. The Employment Agreement includes a non-disparagement clause, which

provides that |
I - [t further provides that the parties may, if Mr. Falwell

is terminated for cause, |G

I This non-disparagement provision expressly survives termination of

the Employment Agreement.

39.  The Employment Agreement provides indemnification rights B L. o
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I Scction 10.1 of the Employment Agreement provides that:

D. Granda’s Attempts to Extort the Falwells

(i) Granda’s Lies Regarding the Affair

B

0.  Jerry and Rebecca Falwell have been married since 1987 and have three children
together. In March of 2012, Mr. and Mrs. Falwell were on vacation with their family, as well as
two other families, at the Fontainebleau Miami Beach hotel in Miami, Florida. There, they met
Giancarlo Granda, who was employed at the resort as a pool attendant. At first, Granda
impressed the Falwells with his entrepreneurial attitude and ambition, and the Falwells
befriended him. With the Falwell’s help and encouragement, Granda decided to return to college
and received his bachelor’s degree in finance from Florida International University.

41. Unbeknownst to Mr. Falwell, on rare occasions between 2012 and 2014, Mr.
Granda and Mrs. Falwell engaged in an affair. The Falwells later learned that Granda used his
job at the Fontainebleau Miami Beach hotel to prey on hotel guests, especially women.

42. When Mr. Falwell learned of the affair, he was heartbroken. However, after
working on their marriage, he and Mrs. Falwell reconciled. Unfortunately, Mr. and Mrs.
Falwell’s reconciliation did not put an end to the trouble Granda would cause their family.
Notwithstanding all the support the Falwell family gave to Granda, he soon revealed himself to

be a deeply disturbed and unstable individual who was bent on continually threatening the
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Falwells and exploiting the affair to his financial advantage. As explained below, when it
became clear the Falwells would not be extorted and would never pay for his silence, he publicly
unleashed falsehoods in an attempt to destroy their lives.

43, When the affair ended in 2014, the Falwells initially attempted to distance
themselves from Granda, but Granda responded with aggression and threats to publicize his
relationship with Mrs. Falwell to publicly embarrass the Falwells and Liberty University.

44.  Granda’s threats placed an enormous amount of strain on the Falwells’ well-
being—the constant anxiety contributed to Mr. Falwell losing 80 pounds over just two years.
Although the Falwells wished to distance themselves from Granda completely, given the threat
that he posed, the Falwells believed it best to maintain a positive relationship with him to placate
his increasingly erratic behavior and manage his extortive demands while extricating themselves.
Granda became obsessed, however, with the prospect of leveraging his relationship with the
Falwells into a payday.

45. For example, Granda had sold intimate pictures of Mrs. Falwell to his friends,
who then used those pictures to try to extort the Falwells for money. When Granda learned of
his friends’ extortion attempt, rather than apologize for the emotional and financial toll it took on
the Falwells, Granda expressed awe that he had possessed pictures that were apparently so
valuable, and that the friends to whom he had sold the pictures stood to gain more than he had
from selling them to them.

46.  Granda also illegally recorded phone calls and FaceTime communications with
Mrs. Falwell without her consent. On information and belief, he made these recordings to
strengthen his extortion attempts and to support his later public allegations with out-of-context

clips that purportedly verified his ludicrous allegations.
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47.  Afterwards, in late 2014, Granda repeatedly threatened to publicize the affair
unless the Falwells gave him large sums of money, ranging from $600,000 to $2 million.

(ii) Granda’s History of Unstable Behavior

48.  Recently, Granda’s ex-girlfriends, with whom the Falwells grew close in their
effort to maintain a positive relationship with Granda, have confided in the Falwells that Granda
was unbalanced and manipulative.

49.  On more than one occasion, Granda’s (now ex) girlfriends texted the Falwells to
seek their help in managing Granda’s self-destructive and unbalanced behavior, stating that
Granda was “crazy and verbally abusive” to his girlfriend, his family, and anyone that grew close
to him; and that he exhibited frequent “rages,” including virtually destroying his parents’ house
and “saying really [expletive] up stuff to others.”

50.  One ex-girlfriend told the Falwells that Granda often hurled racist insults at her
and her family. As she put it, “he had truly unresolved psychological issues that make him hurt
people who love him . . . he did the same to his family growing up and now he is doing it to me
... his snapping and explosive behavior is legitimately scary.” She further described that he
would say “the most [expletive] up things about my family” and her, and that she had “never
heard such disgusting racist [expletive] in [her] life.”

(iii) Granda's Efforts to Extort The Falwells

51.  While the Falwells were successful in placating Granda for a time, his extortive
threats never stopped. Indeed, they only became more outrageous and potentially damaging.

52. When the Falwells eventually decided to attempt disengaging with Granda
completely, it was then that Granda changed the threat behind his extortion to something more

damaging. Rather than just reveal the affair Granda had engaged in with Mrs. Falwell, Granda
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threatened to falsely claim that Mr. Falwell had been a willing participant in the affair, even
watching the two engage sexually.

53.  This was not true. Mr. Falwell did not participate in the affair and he certainly did
not watch Granda having sex with his wife.

54.  Upon information and belief, Granda had cooked up this lie hoping that it would
provide him a more powerful threat for purposes of accomplishing his intended extortion of the
Falwells. He was aware of Mr. Falwell’s role at Liberty University, an evangelical institution,
his father’s legacy as a national evangelical leader, and his involvement with the Republican
Party.

55. On June 30, 2020, Mr. Falwell communicated to Granda, in no uncertain terms,
that he would not be extorted; he would not give Granda any money; and Granda should cease
and desist from contacting the Falwells. Granda has not ceased contacting the Falwells and has
continued to attempt to communicate with the Falwells though texts and calls, including in
harassing communications as recently as October 2020.

56.  After receiving the June 30 communication and apparently realizing his extortion
scheme would fail, rather than refrain from contacting the Falwells, Granda then set out to
destroy them in public. In other words, if the Falwells would not pay Granda to stay silent,
perhaps someone else would pay him to go public.

57.  The Presidential election season and Mr. Falwell’s long-standing and vocal
support for the President in media and public appearances, including his early endorsement of
the President in 2016, gave Granda the perfect opportunity.

58.  On information and belief, by this point Granda was no longer acting alone on his

plan to publicly reveal his lies but was now conspiring with political operatives to defame Mr.
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Falwell. Because of the salacious nature of Granda’s false allegations, and because of Mr.
Falwell’s family name, reputation among evangelicals, and public and vocal support for
President Trump, political operatives who are opposed to President Trump’s re-election worked
with Granda on his defamatory media campaign against Mr. Falwell.

59.  Among these individuals was Kurt Bardella, a Senior Advisor to The Lincoln
Project—a political organization that accused President Trump of “crimes, corruption and
corrosive nature” and that has dedicated its efforts to “defeating President Trump and Trumpism
at the ballot box.” On information and belief, Bardella and The Lincoln Project have been
advising Granda in an attempt to use his defamatory statements to harm President Trump’s
chances at re-election. Further, Granda recently admitted in an ABC News interview that he is
being represented free of charge by a senior adviser to The Lincoln Project, to whom he was
introduced by his attorney. It has also been publicly reported that Bardella was organizing
interviews for Granda.

60.  The Lincoln Project was reportedly brought in by Aaron Resnick, Granda’s
attorney, who is a politically prominent lawyer in Miami, Florida.

61. Furthermore, on information and belief, Mr. Bardella, The Lincoln Project, and
potentially other questionably motivated supporters of Granda have gone so far in their support
for his false allegations that they have financially compensated Granda and paid his bills.
Granda has been observed paying for expenses with a credit card that was not his own. On
information and belief, this card belongs to Resnick.

62. On August 23, 2020, faced with Granda’s threat to not only his wife but his own

reputation, and the reputation of Liberty University, Mr. Falwell decided that the best thing to do
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was to try and explain the suffering he and his family had endured from Granda’s attempted
extortion over the past years. Mr. Falwell gave a statement to the Washington Examiner.

63.  Notably, Mr. Falwell’s statements to the Examiner detailed the Falwells’
interactions with Granda and made clear that Granda had attempted to extort the Falwells
through salacious allegations that were utterly false.

64. The next day, on August 24, 2020, Granda followed through with his extortive
threat to accuse Mr. Falwell of participating in Granda’s affair with Mrs. Falwell. In a Reuters
article titled The Falwell Affair, Granda made the outrageously false claim that Mr. Falwell
participated in Granda’s affair with Becki Falwell and “enjoyed watching” them have sex. The
Reuters article also noted that Mr. Falwell “categorically denies” the allegations.

65. Even the article’s headline revealed that its purpose, and indeed the entire motive
behind Granda and his co-conspiratc;rs’ defamation of Mr. Falwell, was to attack Mr. Falwell
and the institutions with which he was connected: Liberty University and President Trump. The
byline reads, “[Granda] says he had sex with Becki Falwell while Jerry Falwell, Jr., head of
Liberty University and a staunch supporter of President Trump, looked on.” (emphasis added).

E. Liberty Forces Mr. Falwell’s Resignation Without Investigation of Granda’s Lies

66. On the same day that Reuters published Granda’s false and defamatory
statements, the Executive Committee of Liberty University’s Board of Trustees forced Mr.
Falwell to tender his resignation as President and Chancellor of the University.

67. On information and belief, the Board of Trustees and the Executive Committee
were aware of Mr. Falwell’s August 23, 2020 statement in the Washington Examiner noting that

he was the subject of extortive attempts by an individual who was using an affair with Mrs.
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Falwell to fabricate outrageous claims regarding Mr. Falwell to harm his reputation, as well as
his categorical denial in the Reuters article.

68. Moreover, at the time of Mr. Falwell’s resignation, Liberty further possessed
information that Granda’s statements were false because Mr. Falwell had previously disclosed
information regarding the affair to a top official who was then, and is now, a member of the
University’s Board of Trustees.

69. Yet, despite this knowledge, when the Reuters article was published, not one
member of the Board or the Executive Committee asked Mr. Falwell about the veracity of
Granda’s lies before forcing Mr. Falwell’s resignation and then defaming him by repeating and
endorsing the lies. Liberty still has not inquired with Mr. Falwell about Granda’s lies. Further,
Liberty performed no investigation whatsoever into the veracity of Granda’s claims before
forcing Mr. Falwell’s resignation or before making its defamatory statements.

70.  Upon information and belief, certain key individuals directly involved in the
decisions and actions to force Mr. Falwell’s resignation and then defame him were fulfilling a
long-held goal to end Mr. Falwell’s fruitful thirty-two-year relationship with the University.
Purportedly acting in the University’s interest to disassociate the University from Mr. Falwell’s
alleged indiscretions, these individuals had engaged, or were engaged, in various illegal,
unlawful, and immoral or otherwise dubious acts in their stewardship of other institutions and
otherwise which, if known to the public generally, would unquestionably tarnish the reputation
of Liberty University by association. It is therefore hypocritical in the extreme for these key
individuals to cast any action of Mr. Falwell as disqualifying Mr. Falwell from leading Liberty,

as he had done successfully for many years.
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71.  Mr. Falwell was told to tender his resignation from Liberty, or he would be forced
to resign. On August 24, 2020, Mr. Falwell provided Liberty University with written notice of
his resignation for “good reason,” as that term was defined in the Employment Agreement.

72. On August 25, 2020, Liberty University accepted Mr. Falwell’s resignation for
good reason through a vote of its Executive Committee, which was affirmed on the same day
through a full vote of the Board of Trustees, thus terminating Mr. Falwell’s employment with the
University.

73. By forcing Mr. Falwell’s resignation from Liberty immediately following
Granda’s false and defamatory statements, Liberty sent the unmistakable message to the public
that Granda’s false statements were, in fact, true.

F. Liberty University Defames Mr. Falwell Following His Resignation

74.  After severing his relationship from Liberty, and despite Liberty’s acceptance of
Granda’s false story, Mr. Falwell looked forward to the next chapter in his life. Liberty,
however, immediately began a campaign to tarnish, minimize, and outright destroy the legacy of
the Falwell family and Mr. Falwell’s reputation.

75. The very next day, on August 26, 2020, David Nasser, Liberty University’s
Senior Vice President for Spiritual Development, presented a speech at the University’s
Community Service, an event at the start of a new school year where thousands of students and
faculty were present and which Liberty also broadcasted online.

76.  Nasser helped secure a wide-spread attendance and media presence for this event
by promoting it, including at Liberty’s Convocation, which was held earlier that day, broadcasted

online, and considered mandatory for all staff, faculty, and students. During Liberty’s
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Convocation, Nasser told the audience that he would be discussing the events leading to Mr.
Falwell’s resignation that night.

77.  On information and belief, Nasser’s speech later that day at Community Service
was largely scripted; other Liberty employees participated in drafting the speech, and Mr. Nasser
was reading from a script during his speech.

78.  Nasser began the defamatory portion of the speech by stating, “There are those
who have told me to lay low and to not mention any of the things that lead to Jerry Falwell’s
resignation yesterday.” Moments later, Nasser tells the audience, “you’re also right if you wanna
see stern and swift accountable action for sinful behavior.” A moment later, he tells the
audience, “the embarrassment that’s been brought upon you as a Liberty student and more
importantly brought upon the name of Christ is wrong.” A moment later, he tells the audience,
“Your concerns, if you’re concerned, are valid. If you’re not concerned, you should be
concerned.” Later in the speech, Nasser returns to the topic, again prefacing his remarks by
referring to Granda’s lies: “Then the summer came to a close, and we opened the semester with
a series of revelation about Jerry Falwell that can only be described as shameful. That’s okay, by
the way, to say it. It’s okay to call sin, sin. Paul says in Ephesians. Have nothing to do with the
fruitless deeds of darkness but rather, expose them. It is shameful to even mention what the
disobedient do in secret. But everything exposed by the light becomes visible.” A moment later,
he proceeds to state again, “It’s okay to call sin, sin.” These remarks together are referred to
herein as the “Defamatory Speech.”

79.  The Defamatory Speech is false and defamatory. Taken together, Liberty’s
statements repeat, as a statement of fact, Granda’s lies that Mr. Falwell watched him have sex

with his wife and participated in their affair. Granda’s lies were first reported in the Reuters
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article two days before the speech and instantly garnered national press attention. Upon
information and belief, every or virtually every Liberty student and faculty member present for
the speech was aware of Granda’s lies and understood that they were “the things that led to Jerry
Falwell’s resignation yesterday,” as Nasser put it. Upon information and belief, that is exactly
what Liberty intended to convey and intended for listeners to understand and what the audience
in fact understood. By saying, “[y]our concerns, if you’re concerned, are valid,” referring to the
subject matter of Granda’s lies as “sinful behavior” and a “sin,” and as something “shameful” the
“disobedient do in secret,” Liberty unequivocally told its audience and the world that Mr. Falwell
had done what Granda had falsely said he did, in other words, that Granda’s lies were “valid.”

80. The Defamatory Speech was the subject of much media attention and was
attended by members of the national press, as Liberty was no doubt aware it would be.

81.  Liberty published a video of the Defamatory Speech online to its website, and it
remains online as of the time of this filing.

82. On information and belief, Nasser was authorized to speak on behalf of Liberty at
the Community Service event. In fact, Nasser did so in the course and scope of his employment
and in furtherance of Liberty’s interests, and was acting as Liberty’s agent in his role as Senior
Vice President. Furthermore, the Community Service event was an official Liberty University
event where thousands of Liberty students were in attendance, alongside Liberty’s faculty and
leadership, including its acting President and Chairman Jerry Prevo.

83.  On August 31, 2020, Liberty University issued a press release affirming its prior
condemnation of Mr. Falwell. In the statement, Liberty accused Mr. Falwell of a “lack of
spiritual stewardship” and suggested that he had not “demonstrate[d] a full commitment to the

spiritual mission of Liberty University by words, actions, and example.” Liberty clearly
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connected its accusation of a lack of spiritual leadership with Granda’s false allegations by
noting that “all the signs were not there until the start of last week,” i.e., when Granda’s false
allegations were publicized, and that while Liberty “still didn’t’ know the full scope of the
matter, [it] had learned enough . .. .” This statement was posted online, and it remains online as
of the time of this filing. These statements together are referred to as the “Defamatory Press
Release.”

84. The Defamatory Press Release is false and defamatory because, as with the
Defamatory Speech, it suggests that Mr. Falwell’s presidency came to an end because of
Granda’s lies and that, by claiming Mr. Fallwell “lack[ed] spiritual stewardship” and conducted
himself inconsistently with the “spiritual mission” of Liberty, said lies were truthful.

85.  Liberty has also defamed Mr. Falwell in the pages of its own publication,
providing statements that it knew would be disseminated by a media biased against Mr. Falwell.
For example, a number of articles in the September 24, 2020 issue of the Liberty Journal, an
official magazine published by the University and distributed nationally to media outlets and
alumni, further accused Mr. Falwell of inappropriate behavior. Specifically, one article
republished Liberty’s August 31, 2020 accusation in the Defamatory Press Release of a “lack of
spiritual stewardship” from Mr. Falwell. Another article said that “[r]ecent events involving
Liberty’s fourth president, Jerry Falwell, Jr., have broken trust for most in Liberty University,
and some question Liberty’s commitment to its nearly 50-year mission of Training Champions
Jor Christ.” These statements together are referred to as the “Defamatory Journal Articles.”

86.  Liberty published this issue of the Liberty Journal online, and it remains online as
of the time of the filing of this Complaint. The Liberty Journal is also distributed publicly by

mail, nationwide.
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87. The Defamatory Journal Articles are false and defamatory because, as with the
Defamatory Speech and Defamatory Press Release, they suggest that Mr. Falwell’s presidency
came to an end because of Granda’s lies, including by asserting the lies are true by claiming Mr.
Falwell “lack[ed] spiritual stewardship” and that he had “broken trust for most in Liberty
University.”

88.  The Defamatory Speech, Defamatory Press Release, and Defamatory Journal
Articles are herein referred to as the “Defamatory Statements.”

89. In tandem with their attempts to savage Mr. Falwell’s reputation, Liberty has
engaged in a campaign to erase history and blot out the Falwell family’s legacy at Liberty.
Liberty has prohibited Mr. Falwell from speaking to its staff; prohibited faculty from speaking to
Mr. Falwell; and banned Mr. Falwell from visiting campus, despite the fact that both of Mr.
Falwell’s parents are interred on Liberty’s grounds. The University has even gone so far as to
take down photos of Mr. Falwell, including a portrait of a young Mr. Falwell standing with his
father, Dr. Falwell, on the sidelines of Liberty University’s first football game in 1973.

90.  Again, prior to making the Defamatory Statements and taking these actions, on
information and belief, Liberty was aware of Mr. Falwell’s August 23, 2020 statement in the
Washington Examiner and categorical denial in the Reuters article. Indeed, at the time of the
Defamatory Statements, Liberty was even aware of the fact that Mr. Falwell was receiving
therapy for stress-induced depression, which Mr. Falwell incurred in part because of the anxiety
Granda’s attempted extortion was causing. Yet, not one member of the Board or the Executive
Committee asked Mr. Falwell about the veracity of Granda’s allegations, and on information and

belief, Liberty never undertook its own investigation.
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91. In fact, for Liberty the issue has never actually been about whether Mr. Falwell
did anything wrong. On information and belief, Liberty forced Mr. Falwell’s resignation and
issued these statements because certain high-ranking individuals (for reasons known only to
themselves now but are to become known broadly during this litigation) wanted him replaced as
President and Chancellor of Liberty University. Upon information and belief, Liberty engaged
in this defamatory campaign to seal the deal and ensure the permanent termination of Mr.
Falwell’s relationship with the school his father founded.

92. Yet, as recently as October 23, 2020, Liberty’s acting President and Chairman,
Jerry Prevo, noted that “in the time I have been here I have not seen any wrong-doing on [Mr.
Falwell’s part].” Nevertheless, despite acknowledging that there had not been any wrongdoing,
Liberty apparently stands by its Defamatory Statements against Mr. Falwell as each remains
publicly available on Liberty’s website, and Liberty has never apologized or retracted the
Defamatory Statements.

G. Harm to Mr. Falwell As a Result of Liberty’s Defamation

93.  As a direct and proximate result of the Defamatory Statements, Mr. Falwell’s
reputation, profession, and future employment prospects and business opportunities have been
harmed.

94.  Upon information and belief, there is widespread knowledge of the Defamatory
Statements within the Liberty University community, the evangelical community, the real estate
industry, the academic field, the political world, and media outlets.

95.  Asadirect and proximate result of the Defamatory Statements, Mr. Falwell has a

drastically reduced ability to attach his name to, or be otherwise publicly involved in, business
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and charity organizations and events without a real and justifiable fear that his damaged
reputation will erode the reputation of such organizations.

96. For instance, prior to Liberty’s statements, Mr. Falwell received a number of
invitations to appear on television or at public events to discuss, among other things, Liberty,
evangelicalism, and politics. Indeed, Mr. Falwell has considered becoming a recurring
contributor on news outlets. Since Liberty’s Defamatory Statements, Mr. Falwell has received
no such invitations and has lost any prospect of becoming a contributor.

97. As a direct and proximate result of Liberty’s Defamatory Statements, Mr. Falwell
has a drastically reduced ability to attend industry-related academic, political, or real-estate
conferences, and to seek business and professional opportunities in those fields, without a real
and justifiable fear that any new business contacts he develops will have knowledge of the
Defamatory Statements and associate his damaged reputation with any companies he establishes,
manages, and/or owns. In the past, Mr. Falwell has attended a number of such conferences per
year.

98.  As a direct and proximate result of the Defamatory Statements, Mr. Falwell has a
drastically reduced ability to attend community social events, such as events at his relatives’
school and with his neighborhood association, without a real and justifiable fear that any people
he meets will have knowledge of the Defamatory Statements and associate him with such
statements.

99.  Both the Defamatory Statements and the attendant fear that others will associate
Mr. Falwell’s businesses, charities, family, and friends with his damaged reputation have caused

Mr. Falwell significant anguish and humiliation.
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100. That Mr. Falwell now rarely speaks or appears publicly on behalf of the
businesses and charity organizations he supports—a form of support that Mr. Falwell formerly
enjoyed—has also caused Mr. Falwell significant anguish. In addition, the Defamatory
Statements have caused Mr. Falwell immense anguish as he now is deeply concerned that third
parties will hold horribly false impressions of him.

101.  As a direct and proximate result of Liberty’s statements, Mr. Falwell has also
become the subject of much ire and hatred over the “sin” Liberty claimed he committed in its
Defamatory Statements. Upon information and belief, members of the public have written
numerous hateful messages on social media in reliance on Liberty’s Defamatory Statements.

COUNT ONE: DEFAMATION

102.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 101 with the
same force and effect as if fully stated herein.

103.  Liberty made and published the Defamatory Statements, which are statements of
fact of and concerning Mr. Falwell. These statements are false and exposed Mr. Falwell to
contempt, ridicule, hatred, and obloquy.

104.  The Defamatory Statements are also defamatory per se because they impute to
Mr. Falwell unfitness to perform the duties of an office or employment and prejudice him in his

profession or trade.

105.  Liberty made and published the Defamatory Statements knowing that such

statements would be disseminated throughout the world.

106.  Liberty made and published the Defamatory Statements without any applicable

privilege.
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107.  Liberty made and published the Defamatory Statements with knowledge that they
were false and’or with reckless disregard for the truth or falsity of the statements. or with at least
negligent disregard for the truth or falsity of the statements.

108.  As a direct and proximate result of the Defamatory Statements. Mr. Falwell has
suffered damage to his reputation, damage to his profession. huniliation. and anguish. lost
business opportunities, and suffered other pecuniary damage.

COUNT TWO: BREACH OF CONTRACT

109.  Plamtiff repeats and realleges the allegations in paragraphs 1 through 108 with the
same force and effect as if tully stated herein.
110.  On July 1. 2019. Mr. Falwell and Liberty University executed the Employment

Agreement.

111. Pursuant to Section 3.7 of the Employment Agreement, Liberty University was

barred from |1

112, Liberty breached the foregoing provision by making and publishing the

Defamatory Statements.

113, Furthermore. pursuant to Section 3.7 of the Emplovinent Agreement, =9

114. Liberty breached the foregoing provision because |
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115.  The terms of Section 3.7 survive termination of the Employment Agreement.

116.  As a direct and proximate result of Liberty’s breach of contract, Mr. Falwell has
suffered damage to his reputation, damage to his profession, humiliation, and anguish; lost
business opportunities; and suffered other pecuniary damage.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

117.  WHEREFORE, for the reasons set forth herein, Plaintiff Jerry Falwell, Jr.
respectfully requests this Honorable Court:

a) Enter judgment in Mr. Falwell’s favor;

b) Award Mr. Falwell damages for Liberty’s acts in defaming him and
breaching the Employment Agreement;

c) Award Mr. Falwell punitive damages;
d) Award Mr. Falwell pre-judgment interest;

€) Award Mr. Falwell his attorney’s fees and costs incurred in prosecuting
this action pursuant to Section 10 of the Employment Agreement;

1) Enjoin Liberty University from repeating the Defamatory Statements
regarding Mr. Falwell; and

g) Provide any other relief this Court deems appropriate.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff Jerry Falwell, Jr. hereby demands a trial by jury.

28



Dated: October 28, 2020
Lynchburg, VA

Respectfully submitted,

James |. Gilbert, IV (VSB #38229)

Timothy S. Bird (YSB # 38139)
Jordan F&\Sharpes’ (VSB #79394)
13595 Booker T/ Washington Highway
Moneta, VA 24121

phone - 540-721-5110

fax- 540-721-5112
Jgilbert@gbsrattorneys.com
tsbird@gbsrattorneys.com

Jjsharpes@gbsrattorneys.com

QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN LLP

Robert L. Raskopf

(pro hac vice application pending)
Julia M. Beskin

(pro hac vice application pending)
robertraskopf@quinnemanuel.com
Jjuliabeskin@quinnemanuel.com
51 Madison Avenue, 22xd Floor
New York, New York 10010
(212) 849-7000 (tel.)
(212) 849-7100 (fax)

Attorneys for Plaintiff Jerry Falwell, Jr.
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